







Prepared by

### Sisay Alemahu Yeshanew

International Consultant Agricultural Development Economics Division (ESA) Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations The designations employed and the presentation of material in this information product do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) concerning the legal or development status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. The mention of specific companies or products of manufacturers, whether or not these have been patented, does not imply that these have been endorsed or recommended by FAO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned.

The views expressed in this information product are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of FAO.

© FAO, 2014

FAO encourages the use, reproduction and dissemination of material in this information product. Except where otherwise indicated, material may be copied, downloaded and printed for private study, research and teaching purposes, or for use in non-commercial products or services, provided that appropriate acknowledgement of FAO as the source and copyright holder is given and that FAO's endorsement of users' views, products or services is not implied in any way.

All requests for translation and adaptation rights, and for resale and other commercial use rights should be made via www.fao.org/contact-us/licence-request or addressed to copyright@fao.org.

FAO information products are available on the FAO website (www.fao.org/publications) and can be purchased through publications-sales@fao.org.

Cover photo: ©FAO/Issouf Sanogo Graphic designer: Daniela Verona



### **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgments	iv
Abbreviations and acronyms	iv
Introduction	1
What does the right to adequate food mean in the context of emergencies?	3
The right to adequate food and emergencies: relationship	3
The work of FAO on the right to food and emergencies: need for synergy	4
Relationship with nutrition and gender	5
Relationship to livelihoods and resilience	6
The right to food and humanitarian protection	6
Why are the right to adequate food and related human rights relevant to or important for emergency programmes?	8
Who does what in emergencies? Stakeholders, rights, obligations and responsibilities	9
How may the right to adequate food and related human rights principles be integrated in emergency programme/project cycle?	12
Needs assessment and situation analysis	13
Participation	13
Non-discrimination and gender equality	14
Human dignity	14
Transparency	14
Empowerment	14
Rule of law	15
Accountability	15
Contextualization and flexibility	15
Conclusion	16

17

References

### **Acknowledgments**

This issues paper was prepared by Sisay Alemahu Yeshanew (International Consultant, Agricultural Development Economics Division [ESA], Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). The study has benefited from the comments of the staff of the Right to Food Team within ESA and the right to food projects financed by the governments of Norway, Spain and Germany. The study was undertaken in part to support a joint organizational output within FAO on integrating gender, nutrition and the right to food in the work on emergencies. It has therefore greatly benefited from the comments of staff from the Social Protection Division, the Nutrition Division and the Emergency and Rehabilitation Division.

### **Abbreviations and acronyms**

**AAP** Accountability to Affected Populations

**CFS** Committee on World Food Security

CILSS Permanent Interstates Committee for Drought Control in the Sahel

**HRBA** Human Rights-Based Approach

**FAO** Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations

ICC International Criminal Court

**ICESCR** International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

**ICI** International Court of Justice

**ICRC** International Committee of the Red Cross

**IFRC** International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies

**OECD** Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development

**PANTHER** Participation, Accountability, Non-discrimination, Transparency,

Human dignity, Empowerment and Rule of Law

**SWAC** Sahel and West Africa Club

**UDHR** Universal Declaration on Human Rights

**UN** United Nations

**UNICEF** United Nations Children's Fund

**USAID** U.S. Agency for International Development

**WFP** World Food Programme



### Introduction

Emergency programmes addressing natural and human-induced disasters usually aim to avoid or mitigate loss of life and suffering and to respond to the needs of those affected by the disaster. These objectives are best met through people-centred approaches and by supplementing relief efforts with long-term development and resilience-building work. Many humanitarian actors have adopted the language of the human rights-based approach (HRBA) to emergency programming that puts affected people at the centre of disaster prevention and response efforts. The HRBA is a conceptual framework that is based on internationally agreed human rights standards, which provide for legal rights to what are otherwise "objects of charity" and introduce duties and responsibilities into what may otherwise be "moral undertakings." By identifying rights, roles and responsibilities, HRBA can help improve targeting, effectiveness and sustainability of relief and development programmes. An approach that integrates human rights and humanitarian approaches to disasters can contribute to coherence among disaster prevention, relief, rehabilitation and development efforts.

The human right to adequate food, which is essentially a right to feed oneself in dignity, has special relevance to emergencies not only because it relates to a human necessity but also because it enshrines immediate subsistence-related commitments in addition to long-term progressively realizable duties. The member states of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) are committed to the right to food under various international instruments and have adopted guidelines for its practical implementation, including in emergencies (FAO, 2005). The right to food and the HRBA are part of the corporate commitments of FAO under the reviewed strategic framework of the organization (2010–2019). They are also substantively interrelated with other cross-cutting issues in the various areas of work of FAO, such as governance, gender and nutrition.

The objective of this issues paper is to demonstrate the importance of adopting the right to adequate food and related human rights standards in the work on emergencies and to provide guidance on how to integrate the standards into emergency programmes or projects. This is important particularly because the HRBA is one of the five United Nations Common Country Programming Principles that apply also in the FAO's Country Programming Framework and Project Cycle Guide. The paper builds on FAO's 2002

<sup>1</sup> The other programming principles are: gender equality, environmental sustainability, results-based management and capacity development (FAO 2011; FAO 2012e).

legal study on the right to food in emergencies (FAO, 2002) and takes into account organizational, normative and other framework documents adopted since then.

The issues paper recognizes the differences between natural and human-induced disasters in terms of their possible effects on the functioning of governance structures, the roles and responsibilities of relevant actors and the actions that need to be taken. It nonetheless generally addresses the right to food issues that arise in relation to disaster response and prevention. With an argument for the importance of HRBA to breaking the cycle of crises and humanitarian interventions, the paper could also be quite relevant to resilience-building programmes that aim to improve the capacities of individuals, households, communities and states to absorb shocks and stress, to adapt to new livelihood pathways, and to introduce system-level changes to enable lasting resilience (USAID, 2013).

The target audiences for this paper include relevant FAO staff, the humanitarian and development communities, civil society organizations and other practitioners with whom FAO works on emergencies.



# What does the right to adequate food mean in the context of emergencies?

### The right to adequate food and emergencies: relationship

A basic human right recognized in widely accepted international legal instruments (e.g. *Universal Declaration on Human Rights* [UDHR], art 25 [UN, 1948]; *The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights* [ICESCR], art 11 [UN, 1966]), the right to adequate food is a right of every man, woman and child, alone or in community with others, to have physical and economic access to quantitatively and qualitatively sufficient food through production, procurement or, in some cases, provision. It is primarily a right to feed oneself in dignity; it is not a right to be provided free food. States and their organs have corresponding duties to respect (not to interfere with), to protect (from interference by third parties) and to fulfil (facilitate by creating a conducive environment or provide for people who are unable to feed themselves) the enjoyment of the right. The obligation of states is to realize the right progressively, but this does not mean that they can postpone the fulfilment of the right indefinitely. Freedom from hunger and non-discrimination in the enjoyment of the right are considered to be among the immediately realizable minimum components of the right to adequate food.

Emergencies provide a typical example of situations that necessitate the provision of food. Disasters such as drought, floods, hurricanes, earthquakes and armed conflicts cause the failure of governance structures, destroy sources of food and production capacity, interrupt food supply and market access, erode savings and livelihoods and challenge food preparation and hygienic practices. These in turn decrease food consumption and dietary diversity, which affect the quantitative and qualitative aspects, respectively, of the right to adequate food.

The possible failure or lack of governance structures and monitoring mechanisms in complex emergencies can complicate the protection of the right to food. Nevertheless, all relevant actors can avoid further harm to the rights of affected people (the principle of "do no harm") and follow a human rights-based approach in the formulation and implementation of programmes.

### The work of FAO on the right to food and emergencies: need for synergy

FAO's work on the right to food is mainly based on the Voluntary guidelines to support the progressive realization of the right to adequate food in the context of national food security (FAO, 2005), which was adopted by the consensus of member states of the FAO Council in 2004. This instrument provides practical guidance on creating an enabling environment, building institutional and resource capacity, advocating for the right to food and monitoring its realization, including in the context of disasters and provision of food aid. FAO helps member states in the implementation of the Guidelines by providing evidence-based knowledge, technical support to law- and policy-making processes and capacity development. It applies the right to food together with the human rights and governance principles of participation, accountability, non-discrimination, transparency, human dignity, empowerment and rule of law (known at FAO by the acronym PANTHER), which should govern decision-making, implementation and monitoring processes. The right to food and the related human rights principles are also part of other international normative and strategic frameworks, including the Voluntary guidelines on the responsible governance of tenure of land, fisheries and forests in the context of national food security (FAO, 2012a) and the Global strategic framework for food security and nutrition (CFS, 2012a). They further form integral part of such programming instruments as the Country Programming Framework and the Project Cycle Guide (FAO, 2011; FAO, 2012e). The implementation of these instruments facilitates the application of the HRBA in the various areas of work of FAO, including in emergencies.

In relation to emergencies, FAO works to help countries prevent, mitigate, prepare for and respond to various types of disasters by focusing on strengthening their ability to mitigate the impact of such disasters on food security, devising programmes for transition from relief to development, reducing vulnerability and building national and household resilience. The revised strategic objectives of FAO (2010–2019) are all relevant to the work on crises and disasters as they relate to both short-term relief and long-term risks and safety nets (FAO, 2013). FAO's objectives and activities relating to emergencies and resilience are also connected to the right to food and the HRBA. In its contribution to work on the extreme food insecurity resulting from disasters in the Sahel region, for example, FAO promotes resilience and supports better governance of food security through defending the right to food (Da Silva, 2012).<sup>2</sup> FAO further strives to promote the approach called "accountability to affected populations" (AAP), which is defined as a people-centred approach that is sensitive to the dignity of all human beings, the varying needs of different segments within a community and the importance of ensuring that women, men, girls and boys can equally access and benefit from assistance (FAO, 2012b). The work on AAP is based on seven FAO commitments that include ensuring transparency, providing grievance mechanisms, enabling participation and preventing sexual exploitation and abuse.

<sup>2</sup> The right to food is also part of the strategic framework for food crisis prevention under the *Charter for Food Crisis Prevention and Management in the Sahel and West Africa* (SWAC/OECD & CILSS 2012).

The AAP commitments and the HRBA principles are complementary, and to some extent overlapping, approaches that need to be applied in a coordinated manner in the work of FAO in emergencies.

Emergency programmes should follow a "twin-track" approach that aims at both meeting the basic requirements of the right to adequate food and contributing to its progressive realization. In the short term, such programmes focus on relief and provision of the means of subsistence. In the long term, they aim to enable affected people to feed themselves in a sustainable manner and to withstand crisis shocks. Accountability to affected populations should be ensured all along.

### Relationship with nutrition and gender

Disasters can cause or increase food insecurity and malnutrition. They tend to compromise particularly the qualitative aspect of the right to adequate food, which relates to nutritional standards. Putting comparatively more focus on making quantitatively sufficient food available in emergency responses may lead to ignoring nutritional issues, i.e. dietary quality and linkages to health and caring practices, which also need to be addressed.

Disasters usually have disproportionate impact on vulnerable groups, which may include women, children, the aged and persons with disabilities whose nutritional status may be permanently impaired by even temporary disruptions in nutritional requirements. Existing socio-economic inequalities, which result in unequal access to power, resources and opportunities for different population groups, may also reflect in asymmetries in the provision of goods and services in emergency responses. This would go against the fundamental principles of non-discrimination and gender equality (in as far as impact on women and children is concerned) that underpin the right to adequate food and any other human rights.

Disasters can adversely affect the right of individuals to have access to quantitatively and nutritionally adequate food without discrimination, and hence raise interrelated issues of the right to food, nutrition and gender equality. Emergency programmes must anticipate and address inequalities that affect access to goods and services.

### Relationship to livelihoods and resilience

Disasters and crises not only threaten peoples' lives but also their livelihood systems (CFS, 2012b, paragraph 66). They affect the basic ability of individuals and households to have the means to get by. They can also cause the failure of the institutional and policy environment that enables people to get what they need to survive. In order to contribute to breaking the cycle of crises and humanitarian interventions that occur in many disasters, emergency programmes should aim at increasing resilience, i.e. the ability to prevent disasters and crises, to anticipate, absorb, accommodate or recover from them in a timely, efficient and sustainable manner and to adapt to new livelihood pathways in the face of crises (FAO, 2013, paragraphs 106–109). Responding to the long-standing call for synergy between emergency assistance and long-term development support, resilienceoriented emergency programming promotes people-centred approaches that respect the inherent rights of affected individuals or groups and build the capacity to realize human rights, including the right to adequate food (FAO, 2012c). Also relevant in this context is the work on social protection, which helps (re)build livelihoods by providing basic necessities or minimum services to vulnerable people and contributes to long-term development by improving levels of health, education, nutrition and social integration (FAO, 2012d). The importance of human rights in resilience-building programmes lies in improving absorptive, adaptive and transformative capacities based on the recognition of the interests and rights of affected populations and the roles, duties and responsibilities of various actors in pre- and post-emergency situations.

Taking the requirements of the right to adequate food, social protection, nutrition and gender into consideration in a "twin-track" approach that combines relief and development objectives can help build resilient livelihoods.

### The right to food and humanitarian protection

While humanitarian actors have increasingly adopted the language of the HRBA in their policies and programmes, there have been challenges in the integrated application of human rights and humanitarian approaches in practice. Distinctions based on the characterization of human rights as long-term legal commitments that apply in peace time (through advocacy and political responsibility) and humanitarian protection as requiring immediate actions with neutrality (sometimes in the absence of a government to condemn) are proven to be largely artificial (see ICJ, 2004; Cotterell, 2005). The right to food is based on internationally agreed standards, the implementation of which does not necessarily require some form of blaming or taking sides. For instance, human rights can be used to start and maintain dialogue for peace, because parties to conflicts often portray an interest in the protection of rights. Human rights can also apply as programming

principles to improve targeting, effectiveness and sustainability of emergency programmes based on processes that ensure participation, inclusiveness and accountability.

Moreover, the right to food is not only about long-term commitments of development, it also has aspects that require abstention or immediate actions. For example, it requires abstaining from destroying or contaminating food sources, avoiding causing further harm, identifying and providing for those in desperate need and ensuring non-discrimination in the provision of food and food-related aid. The World Food Programme (WFP), for instance, defines humanitarian protection as a way of ensuring full respect for the rights of individuals in accordance with human rights law, humanitarian law and refugee law (WFP, 2012, p. 6). As previously stated, FAO strives in its emergencies-related work to promote AAP, which is drawn from principles that include human rights.

The practical implementation of programmes that recognize the interlinkages between humanitarian and human rights approaches and the comparative advantages of the actors in both areas can improve the results of emergency work.



### Why are the right to adequate food and related human rights relevant to or important for emergency programmes?

Firstly, emergencies often result in the impairment of the right to adequate food and the failure of governance structures and the weakening of civil society that complicate the protection of human rights. Conversely, the right to food and the related human rights principles (PANTHER) provide a coherent framework for addressing critical governance dimensions in the fight against hunger and malnutrition in emergencies as well as in other situations.

Secondly, the foundation of the human right to adequate food in international and domestic legal and policy instruments and commitments provides a solid basis for the development of strategies and programmes for emergencies. Following an HRBA helps move away from the charity mindset towards rights-based intervention that recognizes the dignity and rights of affected people and the duties of the various actors involved. It entails the definition of programme roles, responsibilities and expectations through participatory and transparent processes that strengthen the accountability of relevant actors and the dignity, equality and authority of affected people. These in turn contribute to the effectiveness of emergency programmes and the sustainability of their results.

Thirdly, an approach based on human rights recognizes the diversity of needs and experiences within any given community, including those of vulnerable groups, and can lead to better targeting and inclusive and meaningful participation at all stages of the emergency programme/project cycle. It reinforces humanitarian protection by contributing to the safety, dignity and integrity of vulnerable people in crisis situations (WFP, 2011).

Fourthly, the progressive realization of the right to adequate food requires both attending to short-term subsistence needs in cases of emergencies and enabling people to feed themselves with dignity in the long term. Its implementation could therefore reinforce the interlinkages between relief and development work. With the guidance of the PANTHER principles, the right to food can build and strengthen bridges between preparedness, response, rehabilitation and long-term development. It promotes the sustainability of the impact of relief and development work by building household and national resilience, which in turn break the cycle of disaster and humanitarian intervention and lessens or avoids dependence on external inputs.



## Who does what in emergencies? Stakeholders, rights, obligations and responsibilities

A host of actors are commonly involved in causing, preventing and responding to disasters. These include the government of the state where the disaster occurs, crisis-affected people, parties to warfare in case of armed conflicts, another state, humanitarian agencies and civil society. Some actors that work on emergencies have their own codes of conduct that are based on humanitarian approaches, which include principles that relate to non-discrimination and accountability (see, for example, IFRC and ICRC, 1995). An HRBA to emergency and resilience-building programmes provides a principled basis and concrete guidance to ensuring the participation, inclusion and empowerment of the affected people and defining the roles and responsibilities of the various actors. The practical application of some of the principles of an HRBA depends on the existence and strength of the state's governance structure. The duties and responsibilities of the different actors in emergencies are defined below in terms of the hierarchy and type of obligations.

Governments of states where disasters occur have the primary obligation to deal with emergency situations by putting in place early warning systems; taking emergency prevention, preparedness, response and rehabilitation measures; and seeking international aid and assistance to respond to disasters. Under the HRBA, crisis-affected, food-insecure people are the primary actors in their own survival and protection. They are stakeholders (rather than mere beneficiaries) with fundamental rights to shape efforts to assist them (FAO, 2012b; WFP, 2012).

A supplementary obligation of foreign states and intergovernmental organizations to support states affected by disasters to realize the right to adequate food may be established based on international obligations to take action separately and through international cooperation for the universal realization of human rights and fundamental freedoms (UN Charter, articles 55 and 56 [UN, 1945]; UDHR, article 28 [UN, 1948]; ICESCR, articles 2 and 11 [UN, 1966]; *The Convention on the Rights of the Child*, article 4 [UN, 1989]). It is accordingly held that states that are in a position to provide international aid and assistance have joint and individual responsibility to provide humanitarian and development aid and assistance (CESCR, 1999, paragraphs 38 and 39; Anon. 2011, paragraphs 32 and 33). However, in practice not all states recognize such a legally binding obligation, including in cases of emergencies.

The assumption of at least moral duties by some donor states and the actual provision of aid and assistance by many states (including through international agencies) may be framed in a rights-based approach that entails the responsibility of donors and humanitarian agencies and the recognition that beneficiaries of aid are right holders. Donor states, humanitarian agencies and other non-state actors involved in work on emergencies should then take into account the primacy of the obligations of the state where disaster occurs and the need to engage with crisis-affected people. For example, donor states should ensure that their food aid supports national efforts based on sound needs assessment, that it does not disrupt local food production and markets and hence the livelihoods of producers and traders, and that it takes into account food safety, the nutritional and dietary needs and cultures of recipient populations (FAO, 2005, paragraphs 15.1 and 15.2). Where there are state institutions or agents, donor states and non-governmental and intergovernmental organizations should aim to work with them and strengthen their capacities to deal with the situation. Civil society often plays an invaluable role in monitoring the effectiveness of emergency programmes.

In their work of helping states to prepare for and respond to emergencies, FAO and WFP acknowledge their accountability to the crisis-affected people they seek to assist and undertake to ensure that human rights are respected within their work (FAO, 2012b; WFP, 2012). The duties they assume include: not exposing people to further harm and reducing risk to already vulnerable people; responding to affected people's expression of their rights and needs relating to efforts to assist them; ensuring gender equality and avoiding sexual exploitation and abuse by humanitarian staff; protecting groups with special needs, including the aged, the disabled and people living with HIV/AIDS; and designing and carrying out food- and livelihood-assistance activities. These commitments provide good bases for the operationalization of the HRBA.

As stated earlier, states carry the obligations to respect, protect and fulfil the right to adequate food in emergency situations. Humanitarian agencies and non-state actors also share these duties at least under the following circumstances.

Under the duty to respect the right to adequate food, all actors involved in causing and responding to emergencies should abstain from conduct that impedes the ability or efforts of affected people to feed themselves and rebuild their livelihood. State as well as non-state actors are, for example, prohibited from using the starvation of civilians as a method of warfare by attacking objects indispensable to their survival such as food and water sources and supplies; wilfully impeding relief supplies; and depriving access to food (ICRC, 1977a, article 54; ICRC, 1977b, article 14; ICRC, 1949a, article 147; ICC, 2002, articles 7 and 8; FAO, 2005, paragraphs 16.1 and 16.2). Humanitarian agents should make sure that their conducts do not weaken the ability of individuals, households or communities to prevent or withstand crises, that they do not cause further harm to affected people and that they do not discriminate in the provision of food and food-related aid, in rehabilitation services and in long-term development assistance.

The duty to protect the right to adequate food requires that states take measures to ensure that third parties and non-state actors (individuals, armed groups, corporations etc.) do not deprive affected people of their access to adequate food or frustrate their efforts to feed themselves (CESCR, 1999, paragraph 19).

Under the duty to fulfil the right to adequate food, states are obliged to facilitate access to and utilization of resources and means of livelihood, e.g. by taking measures to improve production, conservation and distribution of food (ICESCR, article 11(2) [UN, 1966]). They should put in place early warning systems to prevent or mitigate the effects of disasters and take appropriate preparedness measures, such as establishing food stocks and maintaining systems of distribution (FAO, 2005, paragraph 16.7). In situations of conflict, government and other parties to warfare have obligations to permit and facilitate access by humanitarian agencies to affected people and the distribution of food and foodrelated aid (ICRC, 1949a, article 59; ICRC, 1977a, article 70; ICRC, 1977b, article 18). Where a state is an occupying power, it is obliged to provide food to those under its control (ICRC, 1949a, articles 55, 87 and 89; ICRC, 1949b, articles 20, 26, 28 and 46; ICRC, 1977a, article 69). Whether it is a party to a conflict or not, a state is obliged to facilitate unimpeded transit of relief consignments, equipment and personnel (UN, 1999, article 5; ICRC, 1977a, article 70(2); FAO, 2005, paragraph 14.3). A state to which refugees flee as a result of disasters also has obligations to provide or facilitate the provision of relief and assistance, including food (UN, 1951, articles 20 and 23; FAO, 2005, paragraphs 16.3-16.6).

It should, however, be noted that the obligations of states relating to the right to adequate food are not absolute; at least some of its elements may be suspended in situations of emergency threatening the existence of a nation, or may be limited in the interest of public welfare (see, for example, UDHR, article 29 [UN, 1948] and ICESCR, article 4 [UN, 1966]).<sup>3</sup> Nevertheless, such restrictions must be determined by law, proportional to the exigencies of the situation, non-discriminatory and in line with meeting people's subsistence requirements. States may not, for example, derogate from or limit the "fundamental right of everyone to be free from hunger" (ICESCR, article 11(2) [UN, 1966]), which mandates the provision of a survival-level nutritional intake that is related to the right to life (FAO, 2002).

Last but not least, states, international and regional organizations, humanitarian agencies and other actors who engage in emergency response and prevention work, either directly or indirectly through funding and other support, should coordinate their activities and collaborate with stakeholders to ensure the efficiency and effectiveness of emergency programmes (CFS, 2012b). The FAO, WFP and United Nations Children's Fund joint resilience strategy (2012–2020) for Somalia is a good example of an attempt at coordination of efforts to avoid duplication and redundancy and ensure cost-effectiveness (FAO, WFP and UNICEF, 2012).



# How may the right to adequate food and related human rights principles be integrated in emergency programme/project cycle?

Emergency programmes have to take into account many competing factors and perspectives on various issues that range from resource mobilization to context sensitivity. It would be wise for them to follow an HRBA because efforts aimed at disaster response and prevention raise critical issues relating to the right to adequate food and other human rights. Within FAO, the approach is implemented through a "three lenses approach" that applies the following criteria with respect to the objectives, processes and outcomes of programmes and projects:

- the realization of the right to food is an overall **objective or guiding framework**;
- the programme cycle process (design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation)
  respects the PANTHER principles to improve targeting, efficiency, effectiveness and
  sustainability of outcomes; and
- rights, obligations, responsibilities and accountability mechanisms are identified with
  a view to build the capacity of duty bearers to meet their obligations and of right
  holders to claim their rights.

To the extent that emergency response programmes have the dual objectives of meeting short-term food and food-related needs and building sustainable livelihoods to enable affected people to feed themselves and face similar challenges, their aim can be framed in terms of realizing the right to adequate food. To achieve this effectively, efficiently and sustainably, the design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of the programmes should be based on the PANTHER principles of participation, accountability, non-discrimination, transparency, human dignity, empowerment and rule of law. Some of these principles have been in use as bases of good-quality programming, but they have special importance in the HRBA as they relate to such internationally agreed standards as the rights to equality, due process of law, access to information and participatory rights. As human rights entail rights and responsibilities, emergency programmes that integrate them should aim at developing the capacity of duty bearers to meet their obligations and to empower right holders to claim their rights. Accordingly, human rights-based

emergency programmes, including prevention, relief, rehabilitation and development, should be guided by or adopt the following principles and practical actions.

### Needs assessment and situation analysis

- Assess the food and nutritional situation in inclusive and participatory manners, and understand the needs, capacities and existing coping strategies of affected communities, people or households. This should be used to inform the targeting, design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of programmes.
- Engage with all affected people, the government or representative local authorities, grassroots organizations and other stakeholders, including those exercising de facto authority, civil society and humanitarian actors, to understand priority needs (food, information etc.) and the strengths and gaps in local capacities for the implementation of the right to adequate food. The programme should take into account the country's long-term commitments in legal and policy instruments and create synergy with the programmes of other relevant actors.
- Generate or rely on sex- and age-disaggregated data as much as possible so as to understand the differing needs of women, men, girls and boys with respect to the right to adequate food.
- Conduct or rely on proper analyses of vulnerability, structures of participation and representation, and local production and market situations to avoid "elite capture" of food and food-related aid as well as the disruption of the livelihoods of local producers and traders. Emergency programmes should target the most vulnerable or affected populations without affecting local sources of livelihoods.
- Use assessment reports and identify pertinent good practices for evidence-based decision-making.

### **Participation**

- Ensure the free, informed and full participation of all segments of the population, including local women, men, elders and youth, in decision-making processes in every stage of the project/programme cycle: initial assessment, programme or project design, identification of criteria for targeting, planning, implementation, monitoring and evaluation.
- Engage in meaningful consultations with relevant state and non-state actors, including
  public authorities, community representatives, de facto authorities, civil society and
  humanitarian agents, for participatory decision-making and coordination of efforts
  Involve affected people (both women and men) in the process of decision-making on
  such issues as selecting safe distribution points and determining safe-passage schedules
  for food collection.

### Non-discrimination and gender equality

- Avoid discrimination on the grounds of race, ethnicity, language, religion, sex or other status, especially of vulnerable groups, in the design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of emergency programmes.
- Identify barriers and constraints that prevent the equal access of girls, boys, women and men to food and other resources (e.g. power, social status, gender, special needs and age differences) in a culturally sensitive manner.
- Take into account the special needs of children and female-headed households, the aged and the disabled, including in the distribution of food, seeds, fertilizers and other inputs.

### **Human dignity**

• Respect the dignity or inherent worth of all human beings, particularly people facing a food crisis and various forms of marginalization. This requires understanding local cultural, religious, social, political and other issues in engaging with affected people.

### **Transparency**

- Ensure that the process and outcome of decision-making in every stage of the emergency programme cycle is fully transparent. Adopt a clear and context-sensitive strategy for communication with affected people and other stakeholders.
- Use clear and well-defined objectives, targets, actions, time frames and indicators to
  monitor the effectiveness of the intervention and to assign and establish responsibilities
  for processes as well as outcomes. Offer possible remedies to weaknesses identified
  during monitoring.
- Provide information about the duties and responsibilities of the different actors (including humanitarian staff), the rights and entitlements of affected people and such specific matters as time and place of distribution of food and food-related aid in languages and formats that are available and accessible to all. Maintain two-way communication with affected communities.

### **Empowerment**

- Broaden the space for and enable affected, vulnerable and marginalized people to play a primary role in ensuring their own survival and protection and in building resilient livelihoods.
- Support public authorities and other relevant actors to enable them to implement their duties to respect, protect and fulfil the right to adequate food, and build the capacity of people to claim their rights.

- Design and implement inclusive and participatory capacity-building strategies, including improving capacities to absorb shocks and stress and to adapt to new livelihood pathways, helping government to introduce systemic changes in governance, infrastructure and other areas, and raising awareness of rights and responsibilities.
- Create awareness among beneficiaries, especially the most vulnerable and marginalized,
  of their rights and entitlements in the context of humanitarian aid, including protection
  against conducts that cause further harm, gender-based violence, sexual exploitation
  and abuse, and of how to use complaint mechanisms in cases of impairment of their
  rights. Make humanitarian staff fully aware of the related duties and responsibilities.

### Rule of law

 Support the (re-)establishment and/or strengthening of the rule of law in disasterstricken communities, including the exercise of public authority based on law and the (re-) institutionalization of independent administrative, judicial and quasi-judicial mechanisms of accountability.

### **Accountability**

- Put in place monitoring and reporting mechanisms and inclusive and context-sensitive feedback channels that contribute to continuous learning and improvement of programme activities. Establish easily accessible and confidential grievance mechanisms and provide timely response to the complaints of affected people (e.g. on propriety of targeting and implementation).
- Evaluate the impact of the programme in terms of the rights to adequate food of women, men, boys and girls, and the duties, responsibilities, commitments of the relevant state and non-state actors. Communicate progress reports to stakeholders.

### Contextualization and flexibility

- Align the programme criteria for the provision of goods and services, the type and form
  of support to strengthening livelihoods, the approaches to participation, empowerment
  and accountability and the mechanisms used to build the capacity of duty bearers and
  right holders to the cultural, social, material and other needs of the target population.
  To this effect, situation analysis should include context and risk analyses.
- Ensure that emergency programmes are flexible, particularly in relation to emergency responses to unforeseen crises, so that they are able to respond to changes in circumstances, capacities, resource availability and priorities. Allow necessary adjustments to coordinate or cooperate with local authorities and humanitarian/development partners so as to make use of the comparative advantages of all that are involved and to be able respond to the exigencies of the emergency situation.



### **Conclusion**

This issues paper shows how the right to adequate food and related human rights principles can be applied in emergency programmes/projects. It raises and responds to some theoretical and practical questions relating to objectives, roles, responsibilities and approaches in HRBA to emergency programmes. In addition to demonstrating the conceptual, normative and practical interlinkages between the human right to adequate food and emergencies, it shows how this relationship can play out in prevention, relief, development and resilience-building programmes. The paper does not address all relevant issues or provide a comprehensive blueprint for human rights-based programming in the context of disasters and resilience-building. Rather, it raises basic issues and challenges, some of which require further discussion.

### **Key Messages**

- Applying the right to adequate food and related human rights principles (participation, accountability, non-discrimination, transparency, human dignity, empowerment and rule of law) in emergency and resilience-building programmes improves targeting, efficiency, effectiveness and sustainability. Applying a human rights-based approach (HRBA) helps create coherence between relief and development efforts.
- Humanitarian actors can follow or strengthen an HRBA without radical changes in their work. The principles of "do no harm," non-discrimination and accountability that have been adopted by the humanitarian community can be both starting and entry points for more advanced approaches that are based on internationally agreed human rights frameworks.
- Many humanitarian actors have increasingly developed experience and expertise
  in human rights that relate to their humanitarian work, but there is room for
  improvement. Capacity development and partnerships could create, strengthen
  and refine the benefits of applying the HRBA in emergency and resiliencebuilding programmes. Collaboration between the humanitarian and human
  rights community of actors is indispensable in this regard.

### References

**Anon.** 2011. Maastricht principles on extraterritorial obligations of states in the area of economic, social and cultural rights (available at www.ciel.org/Publications/Maastricht\_ETO\_Principles\_21Oct11.pdf).

**CESCR** (Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights). 1999. Substantive issues arising in the implementation of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights: General comment 12: The right to adequate food (Art. 11). Geneva, Switzerland (available at www.unhchr.ch/tbs/doc.nsf/0/3d02758c707031d58025677f003b73b9).

**CFS** (Committee on World Food Security). 2012a. *Global strategic framework for food security and nutrition*. Rome (available at www.fao.org/docrep/meeting/026/ME498E.pdf).

**CFS.** 2012b. Addressing food security and nutrition in protracted crises. In CFS. Global strategic framework for food security and nutrition, paragraphs 66–68. Rome (available at www.fao.org/docrep/meeting/026/ME498E.pdf).

**Cotterell, L.** 2005. *Human rights and poverty reduction: Approaches to human rights in humanitarian crises*. London, Overseas Development Institute (available at www.odi.org.uk/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/4345.pdf).

**FAO** (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations). 2002. *The right to adequate food in emergencies*, by L. Cotula and M. Vidar for the FAO Legal Office. FAO Legislative Study 77. Rome (available at www.fao.org/docrep/005/Y4430E/y4430e00.htm).

**FAO.** 2005. Voluntary guidelines to support the progressive realization of the right to adequate food in the context of national food security. Rome (available at www.fao.org/3/a-y7937e.pdf)

**FAO.** 2011. Country programming guidelines: Principles and policy. Paper prepared for the 108th session of the FAO Programme Committee, 10–14 October 2011, Rome (available at http://www.fao.org/docrep/meeting/023/mc218e.pdf).

**FAO.** 2012a. Voluntary guidelines on the responsible governance of tenure of land, fisheries and forests in the context of national food security. Rome (available at www.fao.org/nr/tenure/voluntary-guidelines/en).

**FAO.** 2012b. FAO in emergencies guidance note: Accountability to affected populations. Rome (available at http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/emergencies/docs/Guidance%20Note\_Accountability\_Publi.pdf).

**FAO.** 2012c. Resilience of individuals, households, communities and institutions in protracted crises. High-Level Expert Forum on Food Insecurity in Protracted Crises, 13–14 September 2012, Rome, Italy. Rome (available at www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs\_high\_level\_forum/documents/Brief3.pdf).

**FAO.** 2012d. *Social protection and the right to food*, by L. Cruz. Right to Food Issue Brief 3. Rome (available at www.fao.org/righttofood/publications/publications-detail/en/c/165378/).

**FAO.** 2012e. *Guide to the Project Cycle: Quality for results*, version 8 November 2013. Rome (available at www.fao.org/docrep/016/ap105e/ap105e.pdf).

**FAO.** 2013. Reviewed strategic framework. Document prepared for the 38th Session of the FAO Conference, 15–22 June 2013, Rome, Italy. C/2013/7. Rome (available at www.fao.org/docrep/meeting/027/mg015e.pdf).

FAO, WFP (World Food Programme) & UNICEF (United Nations Children's Fund). 2012. A joint resilience strategy for Somalia. High-Level Expert Forum on Protracted Crises, Side Event, 13 September 2012, Rome, Italy. (available at www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/cfs\_high\_level\_forum/documents/Resilience\_HLEF\_sideevent\_\_13Sept12\_.pdf).

**Graziano Da Silva, J.** 2012. Promover el derecho a la alimentación y la resiliencia para hacer frente a la inseguridad alimentaria en el Sahel. Tiempo de Paz, 106: 5–11.

**ICC** (International Criminal Court). 2002. Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court. The Hague (available at www.icc-cpi.int/nr/rdonlyres/ea9aeff7-5752-4f84-be94-0a655eb30e16/0/rome\_statute\_english.pdf).

**ICJ** (International Court of Justice). 2004. Legal consequences of the construction of a wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory, advisory opinion. ICJ Reports 2004. The Hague, International Court of Justice (available at www.icj-cij.org/docket/files/131/1671.pdf).

**ICRC** (International Committee of the Red Cross). 1949a. *Convention (IV) relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in Time of War*. Geneva, 12 August 1949. Geneva, Switzerland (available at www.icrc.org/ihl/INTRO/380).

ICRC. 1949b. Convention (III) relative to the Treatment of Prisoners of War. Geneva, 12 August 1949. Geneva, Switzerland (available at www.icrc.org/ihl/INTRO/375).

**ICRC.** 1977a. Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of International Armed Conflicts (Protocol I), 8 June 1977. Geneva, Switzerland (available at www.icrc.org/ihl/INTRO/470)

**ICRC.** 1977b. Protocol Additional to the Geneva Conventions of 12 August 1949, and relating to the Protection of Victims of Non-International Armed Conflicts (Protocol II), 8 June 1977. Geneva, Switzerland (available at www.icrc.org/ihl/INTRO/475).

**IFRC** (International Federation of Red Cross and Red Crescent Societies) & ICRC. 1995. Code of Conduct for the International Red Cross and Red Crescent Movement and NGOs in Disaster Relief. Geneva, Switzerland (available at www.ifrc.org/Docs/idrl/I259EN.pdf).

SWAC (Sahel and West Africa Club), OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) & CILSS (Permanent Interstates Committee for Drought Control in the Sahel). 2012. Charter for food crisis prevention and management in the Sahel and West Africa. Paris, OECD (available at www.oecd.org/swac/publications/41276585.pdf).

**UN** (United Nations). 1945. Charter of the United Nations. New York, USA (available at www.un.org/en/documents/charter).

**UN.** 1948. *Universal declaration on human rights*. New York, USA (available at www.un.org/en/documents/udhr).

**UN.** 1951. Convention relating to the status of refugees. Geneva, Switzerland (available at www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/StatusOfRefugees.aspx).

**UN.** 1966. *International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights*. New York, USA (available at www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/CESCR.aspx).

**UN.** 1989. *The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child.* New York, USA (available at www.unicef.org.uk/Documents/Publication-pdfs/UNCRC\_PRESS200910web.pdf).

**UN.** 1999. Convention on the safety of United Nations and associated personnel. New York, USA (available at www.un.org/law/cod/safety.htm).

**USAID** (U.S. Agency for International Development). 2013. Feed the Future Learning Agenda Literature Review: Improving Resilience of Vulnerable Populations, July 2013, Rockville, USA (available at www.seachangecop.org/node/2466).

**WFP** (World Food Programme). 2011. WFP and humanitarian protection. Informal Consultation on the Protection Policy, 31 October 2011, Rome, Italy. Rome (available at http://documents.wfp. org/stellent/groups/public/documents/resources/wfp241965.pdf).

**WFP.** 2012. *WFP humanitarian protection policy*. WFP/EB.1/2012/5-B/Rev.1. Rome (available at http://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/eb/wfpdoc061670.pdf).



### For further information



Visit the Right to Food website www.fao.org/righttofood and the thematic page on FAO's role in the fulfilment of the Right to Food www.fao.org/human-right-to-food or contact us at righttofood@fao.org